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B. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In September 2011, the National Park Service Historic Preservation Training Center (HPTC) entered into a contract
with Beyer Blinder Belle Architects & Planners LLP as Task Order P11PD72165 of an Indefinite Quantity Contract

for Architectural & Engineering Services (IDIQ). This task order was to provide a Historic Structure Report (HSR) for
Harmony Hall at 10511 Livingston Road, Fort Washington in Prince George’s County, Maryland. The project team for
the scope of work consisted of the following consultants:

« Architecture/Historic Preservation - Beyer Blinder Belle Architects & Planners LLP

o Civil Engineering — Wiles Mensch Corporation

«  Structural Engineer — Robert Silman & Associates, PLLC

e Mechanical/ Electrical/ Plumbing/ Life Safety Engineer — Setty & Associates International, PLLC
« Material Conservation — Jablonski Building Conservation, Inc.

«  Environmental Engineering — Froehling & Robertson, Inc.

e Cost Estimating — US Cost

Historical Background

Although some resources indicate that Harmony Hall was built in 1723, the developmental history presented in this
HSR supports the construction date of 1769. The home was built in the Georgian colonial style typically seen in
18th century plantation homes. The house contains examples of both early and late Georgian architectural styles.
Many of these stylistic elements for both the exterior and interior of the house still exist today and are in fair to poor
condition.

Harmony Hall and its surrounding landscape have evolved and changed ownership many times over the past two
and a half centuries. The original tract of land on which Harmony Hall now stands was first surveyed and recorded
in 1662. The land was later patented as “Battersea” in 1668. It was first utilized for farming and agriculture by
various colonial settlers of the late 17th century and early 18th century, after having been an area hunted for many
generations by Native Americans.

As the colonial tobacco trade became more established in the Broad Creek area along the Potomac River, this land
of Battersea and the area surrounding Broad Creek developed into a thriving trade port, later designated by the
Maryland General Assembly as the port town Aire in 1706. The properties of Battersea, Want Water and other early
patented tracts of land adjacent to Battersea along Broad Creek became integral in the tobacco trade and commerce
of the port town of Aire. The home was first constructed in 1769 by Enoch Magruder although there is evidence to
suggest there were earlier structures on the property that preceded it. In its early years, the plantation home was a
focal point in a large tobacco plantation.

Throughout its history, Harmony Hall was owned and occupied by a variety of prominent families within Prince
George’s County, Maryland. Harmony Hall and Want Water, an estate on adjacent property, have been connected
through history by many families and different owners and people who resided at Harmony Hall. In its more recent
history, Harmony Hall was acquired by Charles Wallace Collins in 1929. Collins was most well remembered for his
pro-segregation treatise titled Whither solid South?: A study in politics and race relations published in 1947 and his
associations and influence in the establishment of Modern Conservatism and the Southern Democrat, or Dixiecrat
“Revolt” of 1948. Collins and his wife invested greatly in the restoration of Harmony Hall and helped save this very
important and valuable piece of history within Prince George's County.
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Developmental History
The development of the house can be divided into six (6) distinct periods:

Period I: Tyler/ Marshall Era - 1709-1768

This period covers the ownership of Battersea from 1709 when William Tyler bought the property until 1769 when
James Marshall sold the property to Enoch Magruder. During this time the property was primarily used as a tobacco
plantation.

Period IIl: Magruder/ Lyles Era - 1769-1849 - PERIOD OF SIGNIFICANCE

This period begins when Enoch Magruder purchased the property in 1769 and extends to the sale of the property by
the Magruder/Lyles family in 1850. During this time Magruder family members had married Lyles family members,
Harmony Hall was constructed and was being used as a residence by the families and the property continued to be
used as a tobacco plantation for most of that period.

Period Ill: Transition Years - 1850-1928

After the Magruder/ Lyles Era, Harmony Hall went through a transitional period with multiple owners. This period
coincided with the decline of the Broad Creek area due to the impact of river transport being displaced by rail and
the region’s shift from an agrarian to an industrial economy. During this time, the property was periodically used for
farming and the residence was rented, often having multiple occupants.

Period IV: Collins Restoration/Expansion Era - 1929-1940

Period IV begins when Charles Wallace Collins purchased the property and is defined by his restoration of Harmony
Hall and construction of significant additions to the manor house. His additions included a Pantry Addition to the
south of the Main Block of the House (referred to as the Central South Addition in this report), a kitchen, and a
servants dining room. He also introduced modern plumbing and electricity to the building. He and his wife used the
structure as their primary residence and the property as a functioning farm.

Period V: Collins Upgrades Era - 1941-1966

This period is defined by Charles Collins expanding the Central South Addition to enclose the basement entry along
the south facade of the Main Block. During this Period he introduced heating and cooling to the house. It was also
during this time period that the Colonial Dames provided a plague commemorating what was considered to be the
original date of construction of the house. Collins continued to use the house as a primary residence during this time.
This period closes in 1966, following Charles Collins’ death in 1964, when his widow, Sue Collins, sells the property
to the National Park Service with a life tenancy agreement.

Period VI: 1967 to Present - National Park Service Stewardship

Period VI begins with the National Park Service (NPS) taking ownership of the property. Following the death of Sue
Collins in 1983, the property was leased for a stretch of time as a residence and horse breeding farm, it served as a
temporary residence for National Park Service staff, and for the remainder of the time, the house was vacant. During
the leasing period the house was modified and another addition (referred to as the South Addition in this report) was
added to the south facade of the Central South Addition. Several other outbuildings and structures were also built on
the site. Additional systems modifications and plumbing were added during the leasing period as well.
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The developmental history established and outlined within this report provides an overview of the historical
development and significant changes to the original Battersea tract and the existing plantation home throughout the
more than 300 years of its history. This developmental history assists in establishing the Period of Significance for the
structure and an understanding of the structure as a background to the changes and evolutions in the surrounding
community. For a complete list of all sources used to create this HSR, refer to the Appendix I: Bibliography and
Inventory of Archival Research at the end of this document.

Work Recommendations

As a result of the home being vacant for the last twelve years, the consultant team determined that there are a
significant number of urgent repairs and necessary preservation measures required. The work recommendations put
forth were focused on the following:

« Making the building envelope weather tight

o Upgrading building systems to maintain a stable interior environment

o Upgrading the building systems to meet code

« Preventing any further deterioration of historic fabric on the interior and exterior

« Restoring interior finishes of the Main Block to a basic stable level

« Putting systems in place for fire protection and security so that the building is not at risk of fire or
vandalism

« Removal of all identified hazardous materials

Additionally, portions of the structural framing will need to be reinforced and possibly repaired to assure stability
and allow for different uses to be considered for the historic home. The site utilities and services will also need to be
upgraded to comply with all applicable code and standards.

Ultimate Treatment and Preferred Use

The NPS scope of work for this HSR called for a selection of an Ultimate Treatment and Preferred Use for Harmony
Hall as a final conclusion to the evaluation of the Treatment and Use Alternatives presented in Part 3 of this HSR.
However, after reviewing the Treatment and Use Alternatives with the NPS representatives, they indicated that at
this time they are not prepared to make a final selection of a treatment and use, as it will require further discussion
and input. The document can continue to serve as a discussion point given the comprehensive treatment and use
narratives and diagrams that have been provided as part of this Final Report.

Cost Estimate for Recommended Treatment and Preferred Use

Preliminary Class “C" Cost Estimate

A cost estimate was provided as a conclusion to the presentation of the Treatment and Use Alternatives. This
estimate reflected as a stand alone document provides costs for the Baseline Work Recommendations that should
be implemented regardless of what Treatment or Use Option is selected. These costs were broken down per
building components (Main Block, Central South Addition, South Addition) so that the information can be matched
with the Treatment and Use Options. In turn, each of the Treatment and Use Options have been priced. Given
that an Ultimate Treatment and Preferred Use was not selected, the cost estimate, similar to the Part 3 narratives
and diagrams, represents all Baseline Work Recommendations and Treatment and Use Options so that NPS has
the information necessary to mix and match the various options to guide them to conclusion on future planning and
protection of this facility.
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The following represents the cost summaries of the various baseline work recommendations, treatment options and
use alternatives:

Baseline Work Recommendations (Main Block, Central South Addition, and South Addition) $3,537,155.00

Treatment Option #1 - Restoration -
Use Option A: 18th Century House Museum $2,891,104.00*

Treatment Option #2 - Rehabilitation -
Use Option B: House Museum with Minimal Support Space $3,389,933.00*

Treatment Option #3 - Rehabilitation -

Use Option C1: House Museum with Maximum Support Space $3,913,930.00*

Use Option C2: All Office Use Same as above*

Use Option C3: Conference/Events Same as above*
Treatment Option #4 - “Mothballing” $ 666,109.00

* The costs established within the Baseline Work Recommendations for each portion of the building have
been included within the Treatment Option costs as applicable, except for Treatment #4 - Mothballing.
See Part 3: Treatment and Use Options of this report for a more detailed breakdown of the Class “C” Cost
Estimate.
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C. FURTHER RECOMMENDATIONS

The following are further recommendations for additional investigations or testing that would help to confirm
observations and recommendations made within this report.

East Facade Pediment Investigative Probes:

Written documentation states that the east elevation brick pediment with oval “bullseye” window was added
in the 1790's. Visual inspection of the brick on the exterior confirms that the brick is of a different color at
this location than at other locations on the East Elevation, suggesting this pediment was constructed at a
different time. Examination of the structural framing might provide additional physical evidence that this was
a later addition.

East Dormer Structural Investigative Probes:

In addition to the east facade pediment, written documentation states that the two (2) east dormer windows
were also a later addition. Preliminary investigations of the structural framing of these dormers and the
modifications to the primary rafters suggest that these windows were a later addition. Further examination of
the structural framing might provide additional physical evidence that these were a later addition.

West Dormer Structural Investigative Probes:

The 1924 documentation by Albert P. Erb depicts two (2) dormer windows on the west facade which do

not currently exist and the 1934 Collins era HABS drawings do not show these dormers. Preliminary site
investigations of the structural framing along the west side of the roof, as accessible through the third floor,
does not provide evidence that these windows ever existed. Further examination of the structural framing in
the west attic could confirm whether these two (2) west facade dormer windows existed or not.

Brick Foundation Investigative Probes:

Written documentation states that Charles Collins “rebuilt” the brick foundation of the structure. Further
site probes could determine if this was a complete rebuilding of the foundations or simply a repair and re-
pointing of the existing foundations (brick or stone to be determined through test pits).

Room 203 Plaster Probe to Confirm Split Chimney:

The 1924 documentation drawings by Albert P. Erb indicate that Room 203 - South Bedroom was divided
into two chambers with a split chimney. Select removal of plaster finishes could reveal modifications to the
underlying brick to confirm this assumption. BBB surveyed cracks in the plaster and a cut in the baseboard
which could potentially locate the additional door adjacent to Door 203.

Room 103 Plaster Probe to Confirm Window Openings:
The 1924 documentation by Albert P. Erb indicates that there were the following:
o Two (2) windows flanking the north chimney in Room 102 - Living Room/ Parlor
o Two (2) windows flanking the north chimney in Room 202 - North Bedroom (The brick jack
arches remain and can be seen on the exterior north facade.)
o Two (2) windows flanking either side of the south chimney of the Main Block in the Room 203 -
South Bedroom
There is evidence today of the two (2) windows in Room 202 - North Bedroom as seen on the north facade
where the brick jack arches remain and in the interior chair rail which has been patched and spliced together
at these locations. The 1934 HABS drawings show a jack arch remaining in the south facade at the location
of the existing cupboard in Room 103 - Dining Room. Select removal of interior plaster and/or gypsum
drywall finishes could reveal modifications to the underlying brick to confirm these assumptions.
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Room 104 Wall Probe to Confirm Window Opening:

The interior window trim details of Window 112 in Room 104 - Kitchen match the trim details on the

kitchen side of Door 104. Door 104 was once an exterior entry door which became part of the interior
enclosure when the Pantry Addition was added by Charles Collins around 1929-34 (Period 1V). Therefore

it is assumed that portions of the exterior walls of this Pantry Addition remained when the addition was
expanded in 1941 (Period V) to complete the Central South Addition that is seen today. Select portions of
the gypsum wallboard in the east wall of Room 104 - Kitchen and the west wall of the Room 108 - Restroom
could be removed to see if the ¢.1929-34 exterior brick masonry bearing wall and window opening have
been covered over by the interior sheetrock.

Room 105 Wall Probe to Confirm Window Opening:

Itis possible that a window used to be located in place of the existing cupboard in Room 102 - Dining
Room. It is unknown if the cupboard and the chimney breast)were designed together or if the cupboard
was built at a later date to complement the existing chimney breast. However, the paint analysis conducted
in conjunction with this HSR provides supporting documentation that these two elements date to a similar
time period due to their similar paint chromochronologies and evidence of remaining finish layers (See
Appendix B). Further on-site investigations are recommended to determine if the cupboard is original or if it
is concealing evidence of an earlier window in this location. It is recommended that select areas of drywall
be removed from the north wall of Room 105 - Corridor to uncover possible evidence along the south brick
masonry wall of the Main Block. Possible evidence might include an extant brick jack arch above a former
masonry opening for a window, or an area of patched and in-filled brick used following the removal of a
window or other opening.

Confirmation of Hole in Dining Room Floor:

Although there was visual confirmation of patching in the floor of Room 103 - Dining Room that would
confirm the Collins account of his predecessor having cut a hole in the floor of this room that led to a refuse
collection in the basement, it would be worth removing some of the wood paneling at the ceiling of the
Room 013 - Recreation Room, directly below the area where the patch was identified above, to confirm
whether flooring and/or structure was patched.

Sanitary System Inspection:

Due to the age of the building, the sewer system should be inspected with a video auger to identify any
blockages or cracks in the line. In addition to this, the system should be traced to verify pipe locations below
slab and points of discharge.

Main Stair Support Probe:

The post supporting the main staircase bears on a floor joist that is potentially undersized. This floor joist
is not visible at the basement level. A probe could not be taken during the HSR field investigations due
to presence of asbestos. The ashestos should be abated and the probe performed so that the structural
analysis of the stair can be fully completed.

Wood and Materials Testing:

The load analysis for the building, summarized in the Structural Assessment portion of Part 2C: Condition
Assessment later in this report, is based on assumptions made about materials and their properties. Prior to
advancing much further with options, it is worth having the materials tested to confirm wood species, loading
capacity, etc., so that live load capacity calculations could be more accurate. Also, given the assumptions
made in this report about the date of construction, it would be helpful to have wood testing performed on
various wood components to confirm species, grade and age that might finalize the discussion on date of

Beyer Blinder Belle Architects & Planners LLP 17 September 25, 2012
Historic Preservation Training Center




Harmony Hall: Historic Structure Report Part 1. Management Summary
Final Submission

construction of the house.

Mortar Analysis at Flat Arches:

It was noted that the mortar used at the flat arches above most of the Main Block windows (Window Types
2, 3a, 3b, 4 & 5) is of a different color than the remainder of the mortar leading one to conclude that these

flat arches might have been repaired or replaced. It is recommended that an additional mortar sample or

two be taken at these arches to be able to compare to the other mortar samples already taken to come to

some conclusion.
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A.1 HISTORICAL BACKGROUND & CONTEXT OF BROAD CREEK AND BATTERSEA
Introduction

In order to fully understand the developmental history of Harmony Hall, it is important to have an overview of

the history of the region in which Harmony Hall is situated. An introduction to the establishment, history, and
influence of the Broad Creek community is essential in understanding the significance of the historic structure. A
contextual background places Harmony Hall as a central component to a much larger history of the early colonial
settlement of Maryland and the growth and development of the tobacco trade during the 18th century. This part
of the chapter will discuss a range of topics that set the stage for describing in more detail the Developmental
History of Harmony Hall in Part 2A, Section A.2 - Developmental History of Harmony Hall. The history of early
occupants, the history of the tract of land that the house is located on, and the development of the Broad Creek
community that surrounds the property will be described in order to establish how Harmony Hall contributes to
the region’s history and how the region’s history influenced Harmony Hall.

Other Historic Names Used for Region:
Battersea, Battersee, Battersey, Broad Creek Farms

Subdivision of the Land and Construction of Harmony Hall:
10511 Livingston Road
State Route 224
Fort Washington, Maryland
Prince George’s County
o The property of Harmony Hall is bounded on the east by Livingston Road and on the west by the
Broad Creek extension of the Potomac River. The north end of the site is bounded by the Washington
Suburban Sanitary Commission (WSSC) pumping station and private property owners and to the south
by the Harmony Hall Regional Center (formerly an elementary school operated by the Prince George’s
County Board of Education).
o The 65.7-acre property is located 11 miles south of Washington, DC and 4 miles north of Fort
Washington Park, a property also maintained by the National Park Service (NPS).

Early Native American Settlement and Piscataway Indians

The area of Broad Creek, where Harmony Hall is situated, was inhabited by Native American populations for
thousands of years before the arrival of European settlers. Broad Creek area, a coastal plain of the Potomac
River basin, was the home and hunting grounds of the Piscataway Indians and other tribes of Native Americans
through the early 17th century. When the European settlers arrived in the early 1600s, the land where the
Piscataway Indians occupied was approximately four miles south of Broad Creek.:. No comprehensive
archaeological investigations have been completed within the Broad Creek area, however a few test pits and
surveys conducted by the National Park Service during a site investigation in 1985-87 revealed evidence of
Native American occupation before the end of the 17th century. These site evaluations and archeological
investigations are documented in the publication, Archeology at Harmony Hall: Exploring the Late Seventeenth-
Century Frontier of Maryland.

The early settlement of Maryland by the English colonists began in 1634 at St. Mary's City located fifty miles
south of Broad Creek. When the English settlers first arrived in the area they were unable to settle in the

Broad Creek due to the inability to devise a treaty with the Piscataway Indians. However, as they moved north
1 BCHDPPS 2002: 7
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during the late 17th and early 18th
centuries, they began to settle areas of
Broad Creek through land grants from
Lord Baltimore. When Harmony Hall,
Broad Creek Church (later known as

St. John’s Episcopal Church — Broad
Creek), and other settlements and
plantations were established, Broad
Creek was the northernmost English
settlement in Maryland. Georgetown,
and Alexandria on the Virginia side of the
Potomac River, would not be established
until approximately a century later and
Washington, DC was not established for
another century and a half.

» ) , Figure 2A-001: Original Survey Record for Battersea for Humphrey Haggett,
The British colonists and native Maryland State Archives dated October 8, 1662
Piscataway Indians traded and negotiated

business in the Broad Creek area on many

occasions during the end of the 17th century. However, due to the European colonists’ resistance to continually
being involved in the protection of the Piscataway Indians from the Susquehannock tribes to the north, the
Piscataway Indians fled their hunting grounds surrounding Broad Creek and the Potomac River to settle in the
mountains of Virginia. The increase in the land necessary for the expansion and growth of the tobacco trade
impacted the displacement and relocation of the Piscataway Indians as well.2 By 1697, most of the native
Piscataway Indian population had fled the area, leaving Broad Creek to be developed primarily as a British port
town and community.?

Survey and Patent of Battersea

The first surveyed and recorded documentation by the European colonists of the 500-acre Battersea tract on
which Harmony Hall would eventually be built was made in February of 1662 (See Figure 2A-001 and 2A-002)
and was officially recorded on October 8, 1662 for a lawyer named Humphrey Haggett. Over the next 25 years,
many other smaller tracts of land in the area were patented, however it was around this first 500-acre tract that
the Broad Creek community developed and grew during the second half of the 17th century.® The Battersea

tract of land and the various subsequent adjacent land divisions were the location of what was to become the
historic commercial shipping and trade port town of Aire. (See Figures 2A-004 and 2A-005) The area, known
today as Broad Creek, was established around 1694.” This community developed into a thriving shipping port
for tobacco. Broad Creek provided an advantage to the settlers due to its navigability and direct access to the
Potomac River.?

2 Meringolo, “The Accokeek Foundation and Piscataway Park, CRM: The Journal of Heritage Stewardship, Volume
5, Number 1, Winter 2008, accessed online at http://crmjournal.cr.nps.gov; Potter: 220-221; HRS: 8
3 BCHDPPS 2002: 7
4 Prince George’s County Patent Survey #6:226, 1662.
5 Humphrey Haggett's surname is spelled two different ways on these early land survey and patent documents. It is
listed as both Haggett, Hagett, Hagget, and Haggate. For purposes of consistency, this document spells it Haggett.
6 BCHDPPS 2002: 7
7 Branch-Miles, Thomas and Woods, 49
8 University of Maryland, Collins’ Papers
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Figure 2A-002: Original Survey Record for Battersea for Humphrey Haggett,
Maryland State Archives dated October 27, 1662
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Figure 2A-003: Original Patent for Battersea, Maryland State Archives dated
September 18, 1668

9 National Capital Parks - East (NACE) Records

Historical Background and Context

Harmony Hall is located on a 65-acre portion of the
original 500-acre Battersea tract. The original 500-acre
tract extended northeast along Broad Creek in a large
rectangular pattern and included much of what is now
considered the Broad Creek Historic District. On March
30, 1663, before the land patent was granted by Lord
Baltimore, Humphrey Haggett died. His last will and
testament was probated on July 30th, 1663, leaving his
entire estate to his wife, Anne Haggett. By the time the
patent was granted on September 18, 1668 by the English
Kings Charles | and Charles II,° the owner was Richard
Fowke, who had married Haggett's widow.'* ** (See Figure
2A-003) According to county records indicating that
Haggett entered a brand for his livestock at the court of
Charles County in 1661, he utilized the land prior to the
patent being issued.*? There is no documentation that

he ever resided on the property however, there are also
no records indicating he owned any other land within the
province of Maryland. The court records do reflect that his
profession was the practice of law.?

Similar to the circumstance with Haggett, there is no
recorded evidence that Richard Fowke or his wife Anne
(Haggett) Fowke ever lived on the land. Prior to Richard
Fowke's death in 1677, the Battersea tract was purchased
by Richard lles and Philip Mason in two equal 250-acre
parcels of land. Later in 1694, these two equal parcels
were sold, one to William Thompson and the other to
Thomas Lewis. In 1695 William Thompson sold his 250
acres to Richard Gambra.** Depositions, taken in 1745 for
a land commission regarding the boundaries for Battersea,
document recollections of early farmers in the area. They
recount that between 1685-95, there was occupancy

and farming of the Battersea land.” This deposition in
conjunction with the re-survey of the property provides
some information on the use and occupancy of the land
during Thomas Lewis’ ownership. It states that Lewis had a
cornfield near the mouth of Slash Creek.'%

10 Patent #12:138, 1668; Sonderman and Virta 1993: 3
1 The estate of Humphrey Haggett was much involved and complicated and in a very brief time many law suits
had developed. Many creditors gained control of Haggett's estate, but Battersea remained in the possession of his widow.

(University of Maryland, Collins’ Papers)

12 University of Maryland, Collins’ Papers; History of a Tract of Land called Battersey, 1933: 5

13 Liber B. No. 1 Folio 19, 20, and 155

14 University of Maryland, Collins’ Papers
15 National Capital Parks - East (NACE) Records, Marilyn Nickels
16 Sonderman and Virta, 1993: 10
17 Slash Creek is also referred to as Clash Creek in some historic documents.
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St. John's Episcopal Church - Broad Creek

Approximately 30 years after the first indication of documentation and survey of the Battersea tract of land,

the Church of England was established as the official church in the Maryland colony (1692). The Church of
England sought to establish churches and chapels every ten miles through the “Act for the Service of Aimighty
God". There were two other churches within Piscataway (King George’s) Parish but no church had yet been
established in the Broad Creek area.®® Colonel John Addison, who was a large land owner in England, was a
leader in the establishment of a Protestant community in Broad Creek. In 1694, he was elected Foreman of the
first Vestry of Piscataway Parish, and the parish purchased land for what was to become St. John’s Episcopal
Church - Broad Creek (St. John’s), originally known as Broad Creek Church. This church is considered to be
one of the earliest Episcopal churches in the surrounding Washington, D.C. area.”

There is a strong connection throughout history between the leadership of St. John's Episcopal Church and the
owners of Harmony Hall. The founders of the community within the Broad Creek area were gentlemen by birth,
born into privileged families, and were therefore very well educated and often land rich. They were also loyal
to the church of England. Many of the prominent early families that were leaders of St. John’s had a connection
with the land of Battersea and with Harmony Hall.?

There have been four church buildings constructed on the site. The first church structure was erected in 1694
and was subsequently replaced in 1707. Early parish records of St. Johns Church (maintained and archived
at the Washington National Cathedral) indicate that contracts were established on January 26, 1722 for John
Lane to construct the brickwork for a new church to replace the one previously on the site, and John Bradford,
a carpenter, to complete all of the woodwork for the new church including the roof, porch, windows, doors and
all interior trim.2 Local legend carries that the remaining bricks from the re-construction of St. John’s Church in
1722-24 were used in the construction of Harmony Hall. The church was again rebuilt in 1764-67.

The first rector of St. John's was Reverend John Fraser who served the community from 1710 to 1741. Following
the death of Rev. Fraser in 1742, Henry Addison, the son of Colonel John Addison, became the second rector.
Addison, a loyalist, returned to England in 1775 in anticipation of the Revolutionary War. In 1781, following the
departure of Addison, Joseph Messenger became rector and served in this position for twenty years. During the
leadership of Rev. Messenger, Harmony Hall was used as the church parsonage from 1785-91.22 Following
Messenger, Walter Dulaney Addison was installed as the fourth rector. W. D. Addison (whose wife gave
Battersea the name “Harmony Hall”) was the great-nephew of Henry Addison, the second rector of St. John's.

It is also recorded in the history of St. John’s that W. D. Addison was one of the four clergy who participated in
George Washington’s funeral in December 179923242

18 MHT Eligibility Review Form, 11; Broad Creek Historic District Preservation Planning Study, 2002: 10

19 University of Maryland, Collins’ Papers; St. John's Episcopal Church-Broad Creek website: http://www.

stjohnsbroadcreek.org/StJohnsHistory.htm
20 University of Maryland, Collins’ Papers

21 University of Maryland, Collins’ Papers

22 University of Maryland, Collins’ Papers; Broad Creek Historic District National Register Nomination 2011: 12;
Pearl:23; MHT Eligibility Review Form, 19

23 St. John's Episcopal Church-Broad Creek website: http://www.stjohnsbroadcreek.org/StJohnsHistory.htm

24 An article from a periodical found among the Charles Collins Papers at the University of Maryland attributes the

use of Harmony Hall as rectory for St. John’s Episcopal Church under the Rev. Joseph Messenger as probable evidence
that George Washington would have visited Harmony Hall since General George Washington and his household were
frequent worshippers at St. John's Episcopal Church. (The Maryland Club Woman, page 21)

25 George Washington was a member and vestryman at Christ Church in Alexandria, Virginia and at Pohick Church
near his home of Mount Vernon. According to legends he also attended services at St. John’s Episcopal Church, having
made the trip across the Potomac River to Broad Creek on his multi-oared barge. (St. John's Episcopal Church-Broad
Creek website: http://www.stjohnsbroadcreek.org/StJohnsHistory.htm)
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Prince George's County

In 1696, just three years after the Church of England was
established as the official church in the Maryland Colony, Prince
George’s County was founded as a result of the growing population
and settlement in the area and the increasingly profitable tobacco
trade. Portions of Calvert County and Charles County were merged
to create Prince George’s County. The western portion of this new
county had been part of Charles County.

Want Water

Want Water refers to both a historic house and the property it sits
on. This site and structure are directly adjacent to the Battersea
tract and have an intertwined history with Battersea/ Harmony Hall.
At times both properties were owned by the same family due to
marriage or because individuals purchased both properties together.
The earliest record of the property indicates that the Want Water
tract was owned and patented by Colonel Thomas Addison, son of
Colonel John Addison in 1706.% The house was constructed in 1708
with a combination of brick and wood framing.

Figure 2A-004: Approximate Location of Early Tracts at In 1696, Richard Lewis inherited the southwestern 100-acres of
Broad Creek (1696) (Source: Broad Creek Historic District Battersea from his father, Thomas Lewis. In 1709 Richard Lewis
Preservation Planning Study, 29) sold his 100 acres of the Battersea tract to William Tyler. William

Tyler's daughter, Mary Tyler, married Humphrey Batts, a shipwright,
in 1727.2 Humphrey Batts purchased the 35-acre Want Water
property from the Addison family in 1736.% It remained in the
Tyler family for a few generations and eventually was sold. When Enoch Magruder purchased the Want Water
property from Richard Barnes in 1761, the house was still extant. Sarah Magruder Lyles, daughter of Enoch
Magruder and wife of Colonel William Lyles, inherited Want Water from her father at the time of his death and
continued to live at Want Water with her husband Colonel William Lyles. In 1795, Colonel Lyles transferred
the deed to his wife’s property into his name. This included Want Water and part of the Battersea tract of land.
Colonel William Lyles owned other extensive lands and plantations in southern Maryland and was a personal
friend of George Washington.? During the 1800s, Want Water transitioned into the ownership of various families,
and similar to previous history was at times also owned by the same owner as Harmony Hall.

In the 20th century, both properties were purchased by Charles Wallace Collins and later sold to the National
Park Service (NPS). The Want Water property is currently maintained by the National Park Service, but the
house is no longer intact. Only the brick gable end walls remain. The house was listed on the National Register
of Historic Places with a construction date assumed to be 1708.

26 University of Maryland, Collins’ Papers
27 MHT Eligibility Review Form, 18
28 In 1747 the general Assembly of the Maryland Colony passed the “Act for Amending the Staple of Tobacco” to

establish tobacco inspection stations in various counties in an effort to control the quality and exporting of such a valuable
trading commodity. One of the sites selected for an inspection station was in Prince George’s County “at Broad Creek, on
the Land of Humphrey Batts”. (BCHDPPS 2002, 16; Archives of Maryland, XLIV, 595 ff; Prince George’s County Records,
Book HH:351)

29 University of Maryland, Collins’ Papers
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Town of Aire/ Ayres

In April of 1706, provincial governor, John Seymour, enacted into
law the establishment of a port town called Aire “in Prince George’s
County at Broad Creek in Potomac River at south side of Broad
Creek at Thomas Lewis Landing”.*® The impetus for creating
this town was the need for a tobacco inspection station due to the
volume of tobacco trade that had developed in the area. The town,
situated on the 500-acre Battersea tract of land, was established
by the Maryland General Assembly by the Act for the Advancement
of Trade, or town act, since this area surrounding Broad Creek had
been operating as a site of commerce and trade since the 1690s.
The five port towns designated by the Maryland General Assembly
included Milltown, Nottingham and Queen Anne on the Patuxent
River, Marlborough on the western branch of the Patuxent, and
the new port town of Aire at Broad Creek on the Potomac.** Aire
Figure 2A-005: Historic Land Patents in the Broad CreekArea hecame a tobacco port town of consequence in the latter part of the
(Sstgg;cgzo)Broad Creek Historic District Preservation Planning 174 century with great tobacco warehouses and ship building and
: served as a significant trading port long before the establishment
of Georgetown or Alexandria, VA. This port town consisted of 100
one-acre sites located between Slash Creek and the Broad Creek
Landing. Throughout the 18th century the town developed into a successful and profitable center of trade. The
settlement included taverns, a ship builder, a tobacco warehouse and international merchants.*2 Warehouses,
taverns and docks were built throughout the thriving area. The landing at Broad Creek was still known as
Thomas Lewis’ landing at the turn of the 18th century.

There is little existing evidence remaining to describe the port town of Aire and for many years its exact location
was difficult to determine. The Eligibility Review Form for the National Register prepared by the Maryland
Historical Trust discusses the evidence of a description of a town in the deed for the purchase of Battersea by
William Tyler from Richard Lewis in 1709. The metes and bounds of the town are outlined to be approximately
100-120 acres in the southwest corner of Battersea bordered on the northwest by the tract called Want Water
and on the southeast by Slash Creek. A formal town plan, as suggested in the 1706 Assembly Act, has never
been found.®

Silesia

Another layer of influence related both to Broad Creek and Harmony Hall is that of the Prussian immigrants.
Robert Stein came to the United States from the Silesia region of Prussia in 1875 and purchased 320-acres

in Broad Creek that included the Harmony Hall and Want Water properties in 1892. Stein, his brother and his
friends were trying to encourage their families in Prussia to immigrate to the United States at the end of the 19th
century.® In 1889, Stein successfully petitioned the court to rename the area Silesia in honor of the family ties
in Prussia. Many immigrants continued to move into the area in the early part of the 20th century and many of
their descendants still reside in the Broad Creek area today. As more and more immigrants joined Stein, they

established a community of farmers, laborers and merchants. A post office and a one-room school opened in the
30 Session of General Assembly, April 2 to 19, 1706; Archives of Maryland XXVI, 636 ff

31 BCHDPPS 2002: 12

32 Reed, 7

33 MHT Eligibility Review Form, 16

34 MHT Eligibility Review Form, 21
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early 1900s. The White Horse Tavern, an early 19th century landmark in the area, was demolished in 1903 and
Robert Stein constructed a grocery and feed store. The small community of Silesia is located just south of the
Broad Creek Historic District and contains a variety of buildings constructed from the 1920s to the 1980s. Silesia
is not currently listed as a National Register Historic District nor is it listed as a Prince George’s County Historic
District.

Harmony Hall

As is evidenced from the brief history of Broad Creek, port Aire and Want Water, Harmony Hall’s history

is intertwined with the development of these local historic resources. There are discrepancies about the
construction date of Harmony Hall. Some of the archeological evidence indicates there was a structure extant
on the property prior to the early 1700s when William Tyler owned Battersea that could have been Harmony Hall.
There are also links between William Tyler, Jr. and his involvement with the reconstruction of St. John's Church
in 1723 that would support that Harmony Hall was built circa 1723 by the Tyler son. However, later records
indicate that after William Tyler died in 1721, the house he lived in on the Battersea property burned. His wife
remarried and records indicate she lived elsewhere. There are no records to support that his son, William Tyler
Jr. lived on the Battersea property during his life and his mother continued to maintain ownership of the property
even though she did not reside there. The son passed away in 1755 before his mother Elizabeth and therefore
never became a legal owner of the property. John Tyler, son of William Tyler Jr., inherited the property upon the
death of his mother and sold the 100 acres of Battersea in 1761 to James Marshall. In turn, James Marshall
owned the property for seven years and sold it to Enoch Magruder in 1769. One could also conclude, from

this documentation, that during Magruder’s ownership of Battersea, he constructed Harmony Hall (1769-1786).
Further research, presented in Part 2A, Section A.2 - Developmental History of Harmony Hall, gives far more
detail about the transitions of ownership and the physical development of the house, however the construction
date still requires further investigation.

Regardless of the conclusion on the construction date, Harmony Hall is considered one of the most significant
architectural features of the Broad Creek Historic District in Prince George’s County. It is one of the earliest
extant colonial manor houses in the County. The development of early manor and plantation houses throughout
Prince George’s County was predominately Georgian in style. The typical characteristics included a symmetrical
square or rectangular plan, hipped roof with brick gable ends and dormer windows.*> Harmony Hall is of a
flemish bond brick construction exemplifying this Georgian style. The design is a symmetrical rectangular plan
one room deep organized around a central hall. Architectural details and features of the house include a central
grand staircase with saddles in the rails, an oval “bullseye” window in the central third floor pediment along the
east facade, foliated dormers, a decorative wood cornice and intricate interior molding details including ornate
fireplace mantles. The water table and belt course are of molded brick. The third floor brick pediment, oval
“bullseye” window, dormer windows and double entry door along the east facade were all additions to the house
in the late 18th century.*

Broad Creek Historic District

Broad Creek, located along the western boundary of Prince George’s County, is one of the primary tributaries of
the Potomac River. It is a freshwater tidal estuary along the east bank of the Potomac River, halfway between
Mount Vernon and Alexandria, Virginia on the opposite shore. The mouth of Broad Creek and its large estuary is
a primary feature of the area and distinguishes the Broad Creek Historic District. (See Figure 2A-006)

35 Forman, 83
36 Forman, 92
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On March 20, 1984, the Prince George’s County Historic Preservation Commission voted to establish a Broad
Creek Historic District. The decision was upheld and the Broad Creek Historic District was established by the Prince
George’s County Council on July 30, 1985. It was the first historic district formed under the Prince George’s County
Preservation Law. Harmony Hall and the tract of land it is situated on (Battersea) contribute to the Broad Creek
Historic District.

This rural area surrounding Broad Creek is considered significant because of its historic buildings, pre-historic and
historic archaeological sites, and the many natural landscapes and features. The area remains a quiet semi-rural
enclave that serves as a reminder of the agricultural history of the County when tobacco and shipbuilding were the
prominent industries of the time.®” The historical significance of the area is derived from many factors and there are
several significant and important 18th century historic structures and sites located within the boundaries of the Broad
Creek Historic District, including:

« Archeological traces of early Native American settlements

o The original land grant of Battersea (1668)

e The port town of Aires/ Ayres, one of Prince George’s County’s first towns (c.1706)

e Ruins of Want Water (c.1709)

« Aman-made waterway/ canal dating from the colonial era (1749)

« Piscataway House (c.1750, relocated in 1930s by Charles Collins to avoid demolition)

o St. John's Episcopal Church, one of the first Anglican Churches (now Episcopal) in the Washington DC

area (originally constructed 1694, re-builtin 1707, 1722-23 and 1764-67)
o Harmony Hall (c.1723 or ¢.1769)
e The community of Silesia (founded ¢.1900)

The official historical marker designating the area of Broad Creek Historic
District contains the following description:

Broad Creek Historic District Marker

Prince George’s County Maryland

The Broad Creek Historic District was established by the Prince George's
County Council on July 30, 1985. The area surrounding Broad Creek, an
estuary of the Potomac River, is considered a special place because of its
historical significance, its important architectural and archeological resources,
and its unspoiled natural features.

The Broad Creek area’s historical significance is derived from several factors:
It includes the original land grant of Battersea; the site of the town of Aire, one
of six towns established by the Maryland General Assembly in 1706 as ports
for the shipping of tobacco; and St. John's Episcopal Church, established in
Figure 2A-006: Broad Creek Historic District 1692, the present building dating from 1766. St. John's is considered to be the
(Esllglljt;ﬁﬁy '\Igg\r}i/g;“'j: (I;Irlr?]t)oncal Uity sl el iy “mother church” of other Episcopal churches in the region.
The District also includes three early to mid-18th century landmark buildings:
Harmony Hall (a Georgian manor dating from 1723); Piscataway House (a
frame structure ¢.1750, which was moved to Broad Creek from Piscataway
to avoid its demolition); and the ruins of Want Water (a frame and brick
dwelling ¢.1710). The surroundings of these important buildings and sites have
remained relatively unchanged for over two centuries.

37 Branch-Miles, Thomas and Woods, 49
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A.2 DEVELOPMENTAL HISTORY OF HARMONY HALL
Introduction

As was established in the previous section reflecting the developmental history of Battersea, the land that
Harmony Hall was constructed on played an integral role in local history and Harmony Hall's developmental
history is directly tied to the history of the land. The actual date of construction of the manor house is still in
dispute as historic documents provide evidence that could support either the suggested 1723 construction date
or the 1769 construction date. The developmental history of the house will start with a more detailed outline

of the ownership of the property, followed by a description of documented physical changes to the house and
property from the 1920s forward to present day. There is very little documentation of the physical changes to the
house until the late 1920s when Charles Wallace Collins purchased the property. Shortly thereafter the house
was documented by Historic American Building Survey (HABS). Collins provided significant narrative about

the changes he made to the house. This documentation is relied upon heavily in the developmental history as

a source for understanding changes to the house as there are few sources prior to his papers and the HABS
documentation that clearly describe physical changes to the historic fabric. Many of the assumptions of the
original appearance of the house prior to Collins’ ownership come from either his descriptions or his assumptions
made from research on similar colonial Maryland plantation houses accompanied by field documentation and
inspections carried out by the HSR team.

Battersea Ownership
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Haggett, who never lived on the land, later died in 1663. By the " ek o 90 ﬂ}y Ny m:_,; )
time the patent was granted in 1668, the owner was Richard 7, (H;f/ i W

Fowke, who had married Haggett's widow.® In 1688, Richard

Fowke divided the property in half, selling one portion to Figure 2A-007: Thomas Lewis Probate Inventory,

- . Maryland State Archives
Philip Mason and the other to Richard lles.* The tract sold to v
Philip Mason (the western portion, which included the mouth
1 Patent Survey 6:226, 1662.
2 These sites are found throughout the territory occupied by the English in the seventeenth century, and represent

occupations from the late 1620s to the second quarter of the eighteenth century. A method of construction in which the
building structure is laid directly on the ground surface or set into the ground on posts, rather than resting on foundations.
The technique was relatively simple and economical to construct.

3 Patent 12:138, 1668; Sonderman and Virta 1993: 3
4 Deed P#1:32, 1688.
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of Broad Creek) contained the land upon which the
community of Broad Creek began to develop, and
where Harmony Hall was constructed in the 18th
century.

Philip Mason sold his 250-acre portion of the
Battersea tract in 1692 to Thomas Lewis.® Itis
believed that the first structure was built on this
parcel of land by the Lewis family; the archaeological
investigations conducted by the National Park
Service in 1985-87 on the property of Harmony Hall
revealed evidence of an earthfast structure east of
the existing historic manor house. This earthfast
structure is thought to be possibly the oldest
documented dwelling in the Washington metropolitan
area.’

Thomas Lewis died in 1696 and through his will he
bequeathed the southwestern 100-acres of Battersea
to his son, Richard Lewis.”® According to Thomas
Lewis’ will, his widow (Richard’s mother) was living
on the property, which supports that there was a
residence on the property at that time, and it could
have been the earthfast home.® The National Park
Service (NPS) archeological investigations revealed
that this early earthfast home may have been
destroyed by fire, but that it was determined to have
been built between 1690 and 1710.

Wills can often indicate, via recording of
possessions, the quality of life, wealth and status of
an individual and in turn, by inference, the quality and
scale of the dwelling they resided in. Thomas Lewis’
will does include an inventory which provides some
clues as to his wealth and possessions at the time
of his death. (See Figure 2A-007) The documented
evidence contained in his will indicates that there
was a residence on the property at this time. The
inventory of Thomas Lewis’ estate was indicative

of a man in the middle income bracket for that time

Developmental History of Harmony Hall
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Figure 2A-008: William Tyler, Sr. Probate Inventory,
Maryland State Archives

5 Deed S#1:48, 1692.

6 BCHDPPS 2002: 8

7 Will #7:150, 1696.

8 The other 150 acres of Thomas Lewis’ Battersea property were conveyed in 1709 and 1711 to Thomas

Stonestreet, who subsequently purchased the remaining eastern 250 acres of Battersea in 1726. Prior to 1769, undated
rent roll indicated that Thomas Stonestreet owned 275 acres of Battersea and his son, Butler Stonestreet, owned 125 acres,
comprising a total of 400 acres of the original Battersea tract of land. The Stonestreet family landholdings comprised much
of what is today the northern section of the Broad Creek Historic District; see Prince George’s County Deeds D:79, E:101;

M:88. Interviews with Phyllis L. Cox, spring 2001.
9 Provincial Court inventory XI1V:42
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period, so one can assume the house was a reasonably comfortable one.*

The Tyler Family Ownership

In 1709, Richard Lewis sold the 100-acres of land, that included his parent's home, to a carpenter named William
Tyler.! In the deed transferring “Battersea” from Richard Lewis to William Tyler is a description of the port town
of Aire.’? The deed of sale of Battersea to William Tyler indicates that the property included “tenements, dwelling
houses, tobacco houses, barns, stables, out houses... orchards, gardens and fences”, which confirms that there
were structures on the property in 1709 at the point of sale.*® No further description of what these structures
looked like is available.

William Tyler is credited with supervising the construction of the second church to be built at the site of St. John's
Episcopal Church in 1707. He was listed as a carpenter in several documents, including his will. It should be
noted that during that time period a carpenter was known to be both an architect and a builder equally and it is
possible William Tyler constructed his own home at Battersea, though probably not the brick structure that exists
on the site today.™ The church he supervised construction of is documented as being a wood frame construction,
50 feet by 25 feet, with a south porch. It is also recorded that he provided pews for the congregation in 1713.%°
Also, an unpublished history of St. John's Church documents that on February 18, 1713, a William Tyler agreed
to provide seventeen pews for the new church. It is assumed that this is in reference to the same man who
owned Battersea since St. John’s Church was just north of Battersea along Livingston Road. This also implies
that he was wealthy enough to be able to donate such a gift of his own construction to the church.® According

to some local legend, Harmony Hall was constructed with bricks left following the re-construction of St. John’s
Church in 1722-23. What is possibly more plausible is that the donation of pews to the church by William Tyler
was later construed to include construction of the stately plantation home in 1723 at the same time that the new
brick church down the street was being built.*

When William Tyler died in 1721, his “dwelling plantation called Battersea” was willed to his wife Elizabeth and
she in turn willed it to her son, William Tyler, Jr., upon her death.*® It is during the time immediately following the
death of William Tyler, around 1723, that some accounts state that the existing Georgian manor house was
constructed. Although some architectural historians who have researched the property agree that 1723 could
be the original date of construction, much speculation arises when one evaluates the inventory of William Tyler’s
will (See Figure 2A-008) The inventory of his personal property indicates only modest possessions and it implies
that his son, William Tyler, Jr. would not have had the means to construct such a stately home immediately

after inheriting the land from his father. However it should be noted that in the same will, William Tyler also left

a mill at Broad Creek to his daughter Mary and another plantation called Clarkson Purchase to his daughter
Elizabeth.*® This is not only notable as evidence that there once was a mill on Broad Creek, but this would

have been a considerable dowery for Mary Tyler to have when she married Humphrey Batts, a shipwright, in

10 Inventory 14:42, 1697; Sonderman and Virta 1993: 10
1 Deed E:5, 1709.

12 Maryland Historic Trust Eligibility Review Form

13 Marilyn Nickles Files, NACE; Pearl: 13

14 University of Maryland, Collin’s Papers

15 Vestry minutes of Piscataway Parish, Volume I, pp 17-20; unpublished history of St. John’s Church, Broad Creek,
from the manuscript of the Reverend Ethan Allen, c. 1870

16 Sonderman and Virta 1993: 11

17 Cultural Landscape Inventory 2012: 21; Sonderman and Virta 1993: 11; A 1993 National Park Service, National
Capital Region study of Harmony Hall suggests that a donation of pews by William Tyler in 1713 to the church, “transformed
over time into a connection between the construction of the two brick buildings”.

18 Prince George’s County Will #1:117; Prince George’s County inventory #7:151.

19 Sonderman and Virta 1993: 11
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1727.%2 Humphrey Batts purchased the adjacent 35-acre Want Water property from the Addison family in 1736.
The documentation in the will offers two very different images of how much wealth and property was left to the
children of William Tyler. Some theories support the idea that the inventory of property of William Tyler upon his
death in 1721 provides substantial evidence that William Tyler would have had the means to construct such a
home, or have left enough wealth to his son, William Tyler, Jr., to provide the means to construct such a stately
plantation home in 1723, despite the fact that the inventory of his personal belongings was not as substantial as
might seem required.

To add to the uncertainty of the construction date of Harmony Hall, the county records establish that there was
limited occupancy of the property subsequent to William Tyler’s death. Elizabeth remarried in 1726 and it is
documented that she lived in another location with her hushand, Henry Massey. William Tyler Jr. never became
legal owner of the property as he passed away in 1755, before his mother and therefore never inherited the
property.? Records indicate that prior to his passing, he was not living at Battersea but in Pomonkey in Charles
County. Based on the archeological investigation that indicated a fire destroyed the existing house or dwelling
on the property shortly after William Tyler's death, it seems unlikely that William Tyler, Jr. would have built a
new structure if neither he nor his mother were living on the property.?? Upon the death of ElizabethTyler, she
bequeathed the property to her grandson John Tyler, the son of William Tyler, Jr.

The Date of Construction Debate

It is worth noting, as the discussion of the Tyler ownership concludes, that establishing a definitive date for the
original construction of the stately brick manor house that exists on the site has been much debated. There is
limited evidence to support that William Tyler, or his son William Tyler, Jr., constructed the house in the 1720s.
There seems to be more supporting evidence that the house was constructed under the later Magruder
ownership in the 1770s, as will be documented in a following discussion. The report following the archeological
investigation by the National Park Service, titled Archeology at Harmony Hall, explains both the evidence
revealed and the unanswered questions (still unresolved) that the NPS archeologist encountered during those
on-site studies.

The archeological evidence helps to tighten the date range for the possible construction of
Harmony Hall. As Harmony Hall was built following the filling of the burrow pit (Feature 17)

and over the remains of the probable earthfast structure (Features 41 and 41a), the date of
construction for the manor house could be towards the end of the first quarter of the eighteenth
century. Combining the documentary and archeological data, a possible date for the construction
of Harmony Hall would be pre-1718, based on the evidence from the underlying strata and
associated features and William Tyler's will.%

The documentary record produced by the English immigrants to the American colonies, and
by their descendants, is rich in material about the land which we now call Harmony Hall.
Unfortunately, like most records of the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries in Maryland,

it contains more information about land ownership than occupation and use. The record is
not clear regarding the single most asked question about the property: who built the extant
brick dwelling and in what year? Indeed, the interface of the archeological and historical data
raises more questions than it answers. Simply put, if the brick house was not built until the

20 MHT Eligibility Review Form, 18

21 Charles County Will AD #5:37; BCHDPPS 2002: 13
22 Sonderman et al, op.cit

23 Sonderman and Virta 1993: 55
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late eighteenth century, circa 1770s (Ridout, 1992), then what explains the archeological
discovery of brick fragments, possibly from the construction period of the house, in a soil layer
just above artifacts from the late seventeenth to early eighteenth century, circa 1690 - 17207
What happened during the intervening forty to fifty years? The historical record does present

a possible hiatus in occupation of the property from 1721 to 1769, but it is not clear whether
the land was then without any dwelling, contained an older dwelling from the late seventeenth
century or contained an empty, almost newly built brick structure now known as Harmony Hall.
Reviewing the historical record will not answer these questions, but it may serve to explain why
both archeologists and historians are still puzzled.*

Based on a review of the research available, one can conclude the following:

» Early deeds and wills provide reference to an early dwelling that existed while William Tyler and his
wife, Elizabeth Tyler, owned and occupied Battersea.

« Archeological investigations by the National Park Service in 1985-1987 revealed evidence of an early
earthfast structure which predated the existing Harmony Hall.

« Archeological research supports that a structure burned down around or shortly after the time of death
of William Tyler. This was most likely the earthfast structure occupied by the Tyler family.

e Neither William Tyler’s widow, or his son, William Tyler, Jr., lived on the properly following his death
according to public records.

«  Evidence from William Tyler's will indicated he had the wealth to build such a structure, but it is unlikely
due to the fact that neither his widow or his son continued to live on the property.

o Itis also unlikely that William Tyler, Jr. built the structure, because the records indicate that this was not
his place of residence.

Based upon this evidence it seems most likely that the house was constructed under the Enoch Magruder
ownership, which began in 1769.

Transitional Ownership

In 1761, James Marshall purchased 100 acres of the original Battersea tract from John Tyler, grandson of
William Tyler and son of William Tyler Jr. However, according to rent rolls the property was held by William
Eilbeck, a Magistrate of Charles County for two years between 1761-1763 due to a potential ownership dispute.?
It is possible that the land, though sold to James Marshall, was held by the Magistrate until the property dispute
was settled between Marshall and a man by the name of John Rogers.? A set of documents from the year

1763 (after the deaths of both Elizabeth and William Tyler) refer to the sale of Battersea by John Tyler to James
Marshall. This deed between Tyler and Marshall refers to an earlier sale in 1761 to Marshall. The same deed
also mentions a suit in the Chancery Court, which is separately documented, in which a John Rogers claims
Battersea as an inheritance and sues James Marshall for return of the property.?”

24 Sonderman and Virta 1993: 9

25 University of Maryland, Collins’ Papers

26 John Tyler, son and grandson of the two William Tylers, sold his inherited 100-acres of Battersea to James
Marshall in 1961. Marshall was sued in the Court of Chancery for the value of the land, and the case was settled in 1763.
In 1769 Marshall sold these 100 acres of Battersea to Enoch Magruder. Prince George's County Deed AA#2:22; Provincial
Court Deed DD #2:337; Prince George’s County Judgements DD #4:18,489.

27 Judgement DD #4:18,489, 1763; Sonderman and Virta 1993: 13
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The Magruder Family Ownership

Following the preceding series of different owners, none of whom appears to have used the property as their
residence, Enoch Magruder purchased Battersea from James Marshall on September 6, 1769. Just before his
purchase of Battersea, Enoch Magruder had also purchased Want Water just to the north of Battersea in 1761
from Richard Barnes.?:?

Enoch Magruder was the great-grandson of the immigrant Alexander Magruder. Alexander Magruder was

the founder of the family of Magruders or McGregor’s of Scotland who owned land along the eastern side of
Loch Lomond and immigrated to American in 1655. Harmony Hall is also considered an ancestral home of the
Magruders.®

During the 1760s, Enoch Magruder established a significant ownership of property in the Broad Creek area. His
properties included Want Water, Battersea, and other properties known as Norway and Mount Lubentia. It is
unclear when Enoch Magruder resided at Battersea due to the large number of land holdings he had acquired
and the significant number of slaves he maintained at each location. Mount Lubentia was constructed in 1761
and it is also believed that Enoch Magruder lived there until he purchased Battersea. It is plausible that Magruder
constructed the manor house, known today as Harmony Hall, around ¢.1769 while living at Mount Lubentia in
anticipation of a move closer to Broad Creek.

This date of construction would support another long accepted local legend that bricks remaining from the
construction of St. John’s Church were used in the construction of the brick Georgian manor house since Enoch
Magruder was influential in that church and involved in the rebuilding of the church in 1767-68.3* The church had
two major construction campaigns using brick; one during the period from 1722-23 and one during 1767-68. It
was stated earlier that brick from the 1720s construction might have contributed to the construction of Harmony
Hall if it was built in the 1720s during William Tyler Jr.'s ownership. Another take on this legend is that the brick
from the 1760s St. John’s reconstruction was used for the Magruder construction of the manor house. Enoch
Magruder was heavily involved in much of the planning and financing of reconstructed St. John’s church which
was completed in 1768.

The long term ownership of the Battersea property by the Magruder family and their ownership of Want Water
contributed to the stability of the Broad Creek area up through the second half of the 18th century. When Enoch
Magruder passed away in 1786, both Battersea and Want Water were willed to his daughter Sarah Magruder.
Sarah Magruder had married Colonel William Lyles in 1776 and was living at Want Water at that time. On
August 26, 1795 the titles for Harmony Hall and Want Water were perfected in Colonel William Lyles through

a conveyance by Colonel Lyles and his wife Sarah to Dr. William Baker and back to Colonel William Lyles.*
Harmony Hall remained in the Lyles family through the middle of the 19th century. Colonel William Lyles was
owner of a large amount of land in Maryland and was one of the founders of the Farmers Bank of Alexandria.
Colonel Lyles and his wife lived at Want Water until they moved to Alexandria and his son Thomas G. Lyles
inherited the property.

28 PG County Deed RR:142

29 William Tyler willed Want Water to his daughter Mary Tyler at the same time he willed Harmony Hall to William
Tyler, Jr. upon the death of his wife (the mother of William Tyler, Jr). Mary Tyler later married Humphrey Batts a shipwright in
1727. Humphrey Batts later willed Want Water to his son-in-law Richard Barnes in 1757 (PG County Will, Book 1:491)

30 University of Maryland, Collins’ Papers
31 MHT Eligibility Review Form, 19
32 Liber JRM No. 4 Folio 96 and 99, Prince George’s County, Maryland.

33 University of Maryland, Collins’ Papers
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Dennis Magruder, brother of Sarah Magruder Lyles and son of Enoch Magruder, lived at Harmony Hall and Mt.
Lubentia. Dennis Magruder was born at Castel Magruder in Maryland on July 4, 1759. He resided at Harmony
Hall for some time, despite the home being owned by his sister, Sarah Magruder Lyles. In the written records of
Charles Collins, Dennis Magruder is described as being a man of great wealth, most of which he inherited from
his father. He often indulged in quite an extravagant lifestyle and socialized with the elite society throughout the
Washington, DC area 